IN THE SUPREMI	SID J.	
DONALD GUNSBY,)	JUL SI 1865	1
Defendant/ <i>I</i>) Appellant,)	CLERK, SUPHEME COUNT	10
vs.)	CASE NO. PSPUT Cark	'¥

)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.)

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32014 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The symbol "R" will refer to the Record on Appeal in this cause and "SR" will refer to the Supplemental Record on Appeal.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD GUNSBY,) Defendant/Appellant,) Vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,)

Plaintiff/Appellee.

CASE NO. 73,616

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 3, 1988, the state filed an indictment returned by the grand jury charging Donald Gunsby with the premeditated first-degree murder of Hisham Mohammad Awadallah in addition to one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R711) The trial court eventually appointed a lawyer who cited no conflict in representing Gunsby. (R730-31,736-37,739,743-44,748) Stating that he had reason to believe that Gunsby might be incompetent to stand trial or might have been insane at the time of the offense, trial counsel filed a motion for the appointment of a confidential expert. (R754-55) The trial court appointed Dr. Ira Conley for that purpose. (R756-58) Approximately five weeks later, on October 10, 1988, counsel again cited doubts about Gunsby's mental status and requested a psychiatric examination for aid in the determination of those two questions. (R774-75) Defense counsel also gave notice of his intention to rely on the defense of insanity. The trial court appointed Dr. Umesh

Mhatre and Dr. Rodney Poetter for determination of these issues. (R776-78)

On November 8, 1988, Appellant filed a motion to strike the adjectives "extreme" and "substantially" contained in Sections 921.141(6)(b)(e) and (f), Florida Statutes. (R794-95) The trial court ultimately denied this motion. (R168) Defense counsel also filed a motion in limine relating to prior bad acts of Gunsby. The trial court granted this motion. (R796-797) Appellant also filed two motions attacking the constitutionality of Sections 782.04, 775.082 and 921.141, Florida Statutes. The trial court eventually denied both of these motions.

On November 8th and 9th, 1988, the state tried Donald Gunsby for first-degree murder before the Honorable Raymond T. McNeal, Fifth Judicial Circuit in and for Marion County, Florida. (R1-541) At Gunsby's request, the trial court severed the charge that Gunsby possessed a firearm as a convicted felon. (R4) Following jury selection, the court also granted Gunsby's motion in limine. (R168-169) Trial counsel also renewed the three motions that he previously filed dealing with the constitutionality of the death penalty. (R168)

The trial court overruled several hearsay objections by defense counsel during the testimony of state witnesses. (R188-89,192,197,233,298-300) During the cross-examination of the medical examiner, the state objected to a line of questions relating to illicit drugs that the doctor found in the victim's system. The trial court ruled that this evidence was irrelevant. (R315-17)

- 2 -

At the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (R373) Gunsby presended the testimony of eight witnesses. (R376-462) Defense counsel renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal and the trial court denied the motion. (R462-563) Appellant also renewed all previous motions. (R463) The state presented two witnesses to rebut the defense case-inchief. (R463-75) The trial court denied the state's request to call three more witnesses. (R476-78) Defense counsel then stated that he wanted to call several state witnesses who had also been listed as defense witnesses, but was unable to do so since the state released the witnesses from their subpeonas. Defense counsel stated that he was now unable to locate those witnesses. (R476-78)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with a verdict of guilty as charged. (R536-37,857) On December 13, 1988, a penalty phase commenced. (R543) The state introduced certain documentary evidence and called four witnesses. (R543-578) Gunsby called three lay witnesses and two mental health professionals during the penalty phase. (R579-665) During the crossexamination of a defense witness, the state was allowed over defense objection to testify about an incident where police found two firearms in Gunsby's possession. (R661-662)

Appellant objected to the trial court instructing the jury concerning the aggravating circumstance that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R696-99) Following deliberations, the

- 3 -

jury returned with a nine to three recommendation for the death penalty. (R699,869) The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and, on January 3, 1989, sentenced Donald Gunsby to die in the electric chair. (R703-710,901-04) The trial court found three appravating circumstances: (1) that the murder was committed while Gunsby was under a sentence of imprisonment; (2) that Gunsby had prior convictions of aggravated assault and robbery; and (3) that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R901-02) In mitigation, the trial court found that Donald Gunsby is mildly retarded and intellectually functions on a third or fourth grade level. (R902-03) The trial court concluded that the aggravating circumstances far outweighed the mitigating circumstance and sentenced Gunsby to die. (R903) On January 19, 1989, Gunsby filed a timely notice of appeal. (R1010) A simultaneously filed motion for new trial was also denied on that date. (R1017-19) On March 3, 1989, the Office of the Public Defender, Seventh Judicial Circuit, was designated to handle this appeal. (R1022)

- 4 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

Jessie Anderson, a black fifty-two-year-old block mason from Ocala, was celebrating his birthday on April 20, 1988. Anderson worked part of the day but began drinking and celebrating in Apopka on his way home from work. Anderson and his boss stopped in Leesburg to get more to drink during the trip home. When Anderson's boss dropped him off at Sam's Big Apple, a convenience store in Ocala, Anderson was pretty drunk. Anderson went into the store to buy another six-pack. He was evidently too boisterous inside the store and Tony Awadallah, a member of the Middle Eastern family that owned the store, asked Anderson to leave. Anderson was attempting to comply with the request when Awadallah grabbed him from behind and pushed him down. This caused Anderson to bump his head on one of the posts just outside the store. Since Anderson was bleeding from his head, two bystanders drove him to the hospital where he stayed for approximately two hours. (R184-188)

Anderson's brother, James a/k/a Jap, was having a party that day at his Ocala home. (R187-188,191) Jessica, Jessie Anderson's daughter, heard about her father's injury. She went to James Anderson's home where the party was in progress. After a frantic report from Jessica, Jap and Donald Gunsby, a guest at the party, drove with Jessica over to Sam's Big Apple. James Colbert, another guest at the party, followed the trio in his own car. When the group got to the store, they learned that Jessie Anderson was at the hospital. All four then drove to the

- 5 -

hospital where they visited Jessie Anderson in the emergency room. Jessica informed a still intoxicated Jessie that he had been pistol-whipped by Tony Awadallah. (R188-189,191-197)

Bennie Brown, Jap Anderson's 43-year-old female cousin, was also at the party that night. She saw Jessica, Jap, and Donald Gunsby return to the party approximately forty minutes after they left. (R221-24) At that point, Gunsby stated that he was "tired of those damn Iranians messing with the black." (R224) Gunsby then left the party and returned a short time later wearing a camouflage ensemble. (R224) Brown concluded that she saw the outline of some type of gun underneath Gunsby's clothing. (R225)

Isaac Burgess, another guest at Jap Anderson's party, also heard about Jessie's injury. When Burgess heard about the altercation at the store, he became concerned, as this incident was only the latest in a series of problems that had occurred at Sam's Big Apple. Evidently, racial tension existed between the Middle Eastern proprieters of the store, and their predominantly black patrons. Burgess did not think it wise to go down alone, so he called the police. Wayne Sellers of the Ocala Police Department accompanied Burgess to the store where he spoke to the senior Awadallah. Awadallah apologized for the misunderstanding and the officer completed a written report. (R441-456) Burgess returned to the party where he stayed until approximately 9:30 or 10:00 that night. His wife drove him home since he had been drinking. (R209-216)

- 6 -

The Awadallah family began operating Sam's Big Apple convenience store in 1985. Nasser (a/k/a Tony) Awadallah, his older brother Hisham, and their parents ran the store. Tony Awadallah came to work about 6:30 a.m. on April 20, 1988. Tony's father was also working that day as well as Opal Latson, a cashier. (R234-35, 251-53) Tony's brother, Hisham, was working that day but had gone to run an errand. (R236)

Hisham returned to the store later that night to help The store stayed open until 10:00 p.m., but they started close. counting the day's receipts about 9:30. (R238-39) Hisham was in the process of counting the second and final cash register when a black male entered the store wearing a camouflage suit. (R239-40) The black male also wore a camouflage hat and was wielding a (R240,258) The black male leveled the gun at Hisham shotgun. and fired once, hitting Hisham in the right side of the chest. (R239-40,256-59,306) Hisham died almost immediately. (R266-67,290-94,302-15) Tony Awadallah grabbed his .38 revolver and fired three shots at the fleeing gunman. (R242,259) The culprit ran out the front door of the store, turned right, and fled the scene. (R244) Tony grabbed some bullets before getting into his car and unsuccessfully attempted to chase the gunman. (R244)

Both Tony Awadallah and Opal Latson later claimed to recognize the gunman as a somewhat regular customer over the last several months. (R243,256,27072,297-301) Neither knew the gunman by name. Both subsequently identified Donald Gunsby's photograph from a photographic line-up. (R243,249-50,259-60, 331-42)

- 7 -

Bennie Brown heard about the shooting at the party shortly after it occurred. (R226-227) Brown went to the crime scene where a large crowd had gathered. (R227) Officer Sellers also responded to the scene and helped secure the area. (R441-443) In the aftermath of the shooting, Officer Sellers observed Opal Latson and the elder Awadallah at the scene. (R443) Officer Sellers thought he heard Mr. Awadallah point to him (Sellers) while telling Opal Latson, "He knows the guy who committed the crime. He was with him earlier today." (R443-44) Opal Latson later testified that she understood Awadallah to say that the man who had accompanied Sellers to the store earlier that day (Burgess) would know who the actual culprit was. (R473-475)

After visiting the crime scene, Brown returned to the party where she allegedly overheard Gunsby tell Jap Anderson that he had "tooken care of that." (R227-28) Later that night, Burgess went by Bennie Brown's house. Although Burgess denied it, the community concensus was that Brown and Burgess were romantically involved. (R201,205-06,229-30) The police were at Brown's home and told Burgess that he was a suspect in the shooting. (R217-219) Brown had heard rumors that Burgess was a suspect in the killing. She had arranged for a policeman whom she knew to come by her house that night in an attempt to clear Burgess. (R228-29)

At approximately eleven o'clock on the night of the murder, Latisha Terry, a fourteen year-old neighbor of Gunsby's, saw Gunsby exit the passenger side of a car at his apartment.

- 8 -

She saw another man driving and a third man get out of the back seat carrying several firearms. The trio entered Gunsby's apartment briefly before getting back into the car and driving away. (R352-63) Terry remembered that the man in the back seat with the guns was wearing fatigues. (R355,358-60,361-362)

Diane Williams, another neighbor of Gunsby's who also happened to be related by marriage to the victim, testified that Gunsby approached her the day after the murder. Gunsby told Williams that she had probably heard that he had shot Tony Awadallah. Williams informed him that he had mistakenly killed Hisham instead of Tony. Gunsby told Williams that he had already made arrangements for a alibi witness and asked Williams to also support his alibi. She flatly refused. (R363-68) Williams also saw a carload of men at the apartment complex transporting firearms on the night of the murder. (R366-71) Williams testified that she did not see Gunsby at all that night.

The state presented the testimony of Alfred Hart, a jailhouse snitch, who claimed that he overheard Gunsby make several incriminating statements to Raymond Taylor, another inmate, while all of them were in jail awaiting trial. (R343-51) Raymond Taylor agreed that Gunsby discussed his case with Taylor, but established that Gunsby did not make any incriminating statements to him. (R388-95) Taylor, a former prosecutor fallen on bad times, testified that inmates frequently approached him to discuss their cases. Gunsby told Taylor that he needed to worry about all state witnesses including Bennie Brown, even though she was lying. Gunsby explained that Brown was lying to protect her

- 9 -

lover, Isaac Burgess, who actually committed the murder. (R394-95) Several alibi witnesses placed Gunsby away from the scene of the crime that night. (R376-88,397-439)

PENALTY PHASE

At the penalty phase, the state introduced documentary evidence that Donald Gunsby had prior convictions for aggravated assault and robbery. (R547-49,1022) The state also presented evidence that on March 4, 1988, Gunsby pleaded guilty to a charge involving possession of a shotgun. On that same date, the trial court sentenced Gunsby to eighteen months in prison. The trial judge gave Gunsby permission to report to the Marion County Jail five days later. (R549-53) The jail records indicated that Gunsby never reported to the jail as ordered. (R553-57)

The state again presented the testimony of Bennie Brown. (R557-662) Her observations of Gunsby shortly before the murder revealed that Gunsby was drinking and socializing at James Anderson's party. Brown noticed nothing unusual about Gunsby's demeanor. He appeared to be himself.

Dr. Umesh Mhatre testified for the state, apparently in anticipatory rebuttal of the two mental health professionals presented by Gunsby at the penalty phase. Dr. Mhatre examined Gunsby on October 28, 1988, at the request of the trial judge to determine: (1) Gunsby's sanity at the time of the offense; (2) Gunsby's competence to stand trial; and (3) whether Gunsby met the criteria for involuntary hospitalization. (R562-67) After spending barely an hour with Gunsby, Dr. Mhatre concluded that he

- 10 -

was sane at the time of the offense and was competent to stand trial. (R567-69)

Dr. Mhatre admitted that a person's sanity at the time of the offense was a difficult issue to determine where the individual, like Gunsby, denied guilt. (R568) For the same reason, Dr. Mhatre also admitted difficulty in determining whether Gunsby was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense. (R569) Dr. Mhatre applied the McNaughten standard in concluding that Gunsby's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and to conform that conduct to the requirements of the law was not substantially impaired. (R569-70) Dr. Mhatre saw no evidence of mental illness or disturbance. (R570-72) Dr. Mhatre concluded that Gunsby was not so retarded that it was obvious from a brief interview. (R577-78) Dr. Mhatre believed that an I.Q. below 90 is generally considered evidence of retardation. (R577-78) He gave Gunsby no tests to determine intelligence. (R578) Dr. Mhatre conducted no tests during his interview of Gunsby. (R576) Dr. Mhatre never contacted anyone in Gunsby's family and did not visit Gunsby again. (R576-77)

Gunsby's mother suffered from schizophrenia and was institutionalized in a mental hospital most of her life. (R572) Schizophrenia is genetically transmitted. (R572,575-76) Gunsby's brother had also been institutionalized for his mental illness.

Dr. Rodney Poetter, a clinical psychologist, was appointed by the court to assess Gunsby's competence to stand trial as well as his sanity at the time of the offense. Dr.

- 11 -

Poetter examined Gunsby on October 29, 1988. He immediately observed Gunsby to be cognitively slow. Gunsby had a difficult time understanding some questions and took quite a while to respond. Dr. Poetter conducted a standard intelligence test, an objective memory function test, a basic academic test, and a motor skills test. (R591-96) The Wechsler Intelligence Test suggested that Gunsby has very severe intellectual limitations. Gunsby fell within the range of mild mental retardation. His I.Q. was below the first percentile. His effort was good, but his ability to solve problems was very limited. Gunsby's vocabulary was also quite limited. He could not define simple words such as repair, fabric, assemble, or enormous. Gunsby's spelling skills tested to a third grade level with his reading on a fourth grade level. (R596-97) His academic skills placed him in the bottom one percent of the general population. (R598) Dr. Poetter testified that Gunsby would easily qualify for supplemental security income administered by the social security administration. Dr. Poetter concluded that Gunsby's I.Q. was below 59. (R598)

Dr. Poetter opined that Gunsby did not suffer from a <u>severe</u> mental illness where his perception of reality would be very distorted. Gunsby's intellectual limitations were a chronic problem since childhood. Gunsby's intellectual limitations resulted in Gunsby failing to appreciate all of the ramifications of his actions. (R604) Dr. Poetter found that Gunsby continuously abused alcohol. He also suffered from an anti-social personality disorder. (R607-08) Gunsby appeared to be religious and talked

- 12 -

of church. He thought that God talked to him sometimes. Dr. Poetter concluded that this was related to his religious beliefs rather than reflective of hallucinations. (R600) Dr. Poetter spent three hours with Gunsby in an attempt to comply with the trial court's order appointing him. (R612)

Dr. Ira Conley, a psychotherapist licensed in psychiatric social work and trained in pastoral psychology, examined Gunsby on September 22, and September 27 pursuant to a court order. (R618-621) Although his reading comprehension level was equivalent to a third-grader, Gunsby insisted that he was a high school graduate. (R616-17,622) Dr. Conley found that Gunsby's main delusion involved his belief that he had been annointed as an agent of God to rid the community of drugs and drug dealers. (R623) Dr. Conley administered the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI). Since the test requires a sixth grade reading level, Conley was forced to read the test to Gunsby. (R625) The test indicated confused, bizarre, and disorganized thinking on the party of Donald Gunsby. Conley found Gunsby to be in the psychotic range showing a tendency to be out of contact with reality. Conley opined that Gunsby suffered from a paranoid schizophrenic disorder. (R626-29)

At the beginning of the examination, Conley saw nothing unusual, but the longer he stayed, the more Gunsby's ideas began to unravel. Conley noticed memory impairment and a preoccupation with the community's drug problem. Gunsby's delusional system was not easily fragmented. He seemed legitimately concerned

- 13 -

about drug usage in the community and the apparent apathy about the problem. (R630-31)

Dr. Conley also found Gunsby's family to be very dysfunctional. His mother was seriously mentally ill prior to his birth and spent most of her life in institutions. She died in the Florida State Hospital. Gunsby's brother also had a long history of mental illness. Conley's clinical diagnosis of Donald Gunsby was that he suffered from borderline retardation and paranoid schizophrenia. Gunsby's condition is chronic. Conley had no doubt that Gunsby's illness was genuine. Conley concluded that Gunsby was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense. He also believed that Gunsby's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Conley thought that Gunsby was insane using even the McNaughten standard. Although Conley found Gunsby to be mentally ill, the doctor concluded that he could be treated. (R632-34)

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