IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD GUNSBY,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 73,616

FILED

OCT I

By Deputy Clurk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 397024 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4996

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

prosecutor was permitted to ask questions and not the defense, which this court called a "double standard". No such contention is made here.

Appellant further suggests that death scrupled jurors are more likely to step down voluntarily. (B 22) Appellee disagrees with this premise. Ardent supporters at each end of the spectrum of opinion usually seek an opportunity to influence others which jury duty provides. "Defense-oriented" jurors are just as likely as "death-qualified" jurors to be obstinate and overbearing in attempting to force their opinion on other people. The state fails to perceive any potential problem in any event because this court has repeatedly held that disqualification of "death-scrupled" jurors does not produce a conviction prone jury. Lambrix v. State, 494 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1986). Masterson v. State, 516 So.2d 253 (Fla. 1988).

Appellant has failed to sustain his burden of demonstrating that the trial court committed manifest error in the procedure employed for excusal for cause of potential jurors who unequivocally stated that they would be unable to decide the case fairly due to the nature of the potential penalty. The questions asked were sufficient to create a reasonable doubt as to those jurors' ability to serve and therefore the trial court correctly excluded them for cause.

Even though not preserved by objection and despite the state's argument that no error occurred, appellee suggests that any perceived error is harmless. In Ross v. Oklahoma, ___ U.S. ___, 108 S.Ct. 2273 (1988) the petitioner argued that reversible

error occurred when he used a peremptory challenge on Witherspoon excludable after the trial court refused to strike him for cause. The Court noted that if the juror had sat on the jury and if he had preserved the denial of his challenge for cause, the sentence would be overturned. However, the man did not sit on the jury. "Any claim that the jury was not impartial, therefore, must focus not on Huling, but on the jurors who ultimately sat. None of those 12 jurors, however, was challenged for cause by petitioner, and he has never suggested that any of the 12 was not impartial." Id. 108 S.Ct. at 2277. claim is the same: that the exclusion of jurors for cause was improper and not that the empaneled jury was tainted in any way. "Although we agree that the failure to remove Huling may have jury panel different from that which would resulted in a otherwise have decided the case, we do not accept the argument that this possibility mandates reversal." Id. 108 S.Ct. at 2278. The court's preliminary excusal for cause of potential jurors may have resulted in a different tentative jury but counsel had the opportunity to create a new jury. "A defendant is entitled to an array of impartial jurors to whom he may direct his peremptory challenges but, having been provided with such a panel, he suffers no prejudice if a juror, even without sufficient cause, is excused by the court." United States v. Calhoun, 542 F.2d 1094 (9th Cir. 1976). No reversible error is presented.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT ONE QUESTION ASKED BY DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS BEYOND THE SCOPE OF DIRECT EXAMINATION. ANY ERROR IS HARMLESS.

Gunsby contends that reversible error occurred when the trial court sustained the state's objection to a question propounded to the medical examiner concerning the presence or absence of chemicals detected in the victim's blood during the autopsy. (R 315-317) Appellant suggests that "defensive matters can be presented on cross-examination" (B 26), and therefore the court's ruling violated his constitutional rights. Since the question was beyond the scope of direct examination and did not relate to the witnesses' credibility, the objection was properly sustained. Appellee disagrees that cross-examination is a proper vehicle to introduce "defensive matters". Moreover, even if error is presented, it is harmless because the testimony sought to be introduced reached the jury through another witness.

The state agrees that the right to confront adverse witnesses through cross-examination is a fundamental right.

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 374 (1974). However, this right is not unfettered. The purposes of cross-examination are to weaken or test the testimony of the witness on direct and to impeach the credibility of the witness.

Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 337 (Fla. 1982). Questions on cross-examination must either relate to credibility or be germane to matters brought out on direct examination. Id.

If the defendant seeks to elicit testimony from an adverse witness beyond goes the scope encompassed by the testimony of the witness on direct examination, other than matters going to credibility, he must make the witness his own. Stated more succinctly, this rule posits that the defendant may not use cross-examination as a vehicle for presenting defensive evidence. Coco v. State, 62 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1953); Padgett v. State, 64 Fla. 389, 59 So. 946 (1912). Id.

See also, Lambrix v. State, 494 So.2d 1143, 1148 (Fla. 1986). Since the chemical content of the victim's blood was not a matter covered on direct, there was no absolute right for the defense to cross-examine the witness on this issue. Jones v. State, 447 So.2d 570 (Fla. 1983).

Contrary to appellant's assertion, this ruling did not cause him to "abandon the proffered theory of defense". (B 26) See, Steinhorst v. State, supra. Appellant made no attempt to adopt the witness as his own which would have enabled him to present this defensive evidence. See, Jones v. State, supra., Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988). Therefore, the trial court acted within its broad range of discretion in limiting cross-examination. Id. "The confrontation clause guarantees only an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20, 106 S.Ct. 292, 294, 88 L.Ed.2d 15 (1985)(emphasis in original).

Even assuming for the sake of argument that this ruling was error, it is harmless at best. In <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdall</u>, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1438, 89 L.Ed.2d 676 (1986), the Court held:

The correct inquiry is whether, assuming that the damaging potential of the cross-examination were fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a factors, all readily host of accessible to reviewing courts. These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the whether prosecution's the case, cumulative, testimony was presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent οf permitted, examination otherwise and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case. Harrington, 395 U.S., at 254, 89
S.Ct., at 1728; Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S., at 432, 92 S.Ct., at 1059.

Given the direct, eyewitness testimony establishing Gunsby was the gunman who murdered Mr. Awadallah, the overall strength of the prosecution's case was great. The jury learned that part of a marijuana cigarette was found in the victim's pocket (R 288), and so the medical examiner's excluded testimony was cumulative and corroborated by other witnesses. Although the state must prove the victim died by a criminal act, the medical examiner is not an especially important witness in the state's case. Even assuming arguendo error occurred, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

POINT THREE

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY OVERRULED APPELLANT'S OBJECTION DURING WITNESS BROWN'S TESTIMONY BECAUSE THE COMMENT WAS NOT HEARSAY. ANY ERROR IS HARMLESS.

Bennie Brown testified that she was a guest at James Anderson's party and related statements made by Gunsby in her presence. After Gunsby returned to the party dressed in camouflage clothes with smut on his face, Brown testified that she saw the outline of a long barreled gun under his clothing. When asked to clarify what she saw, Brown stated that she was not the only one who saw the gun, at least ten other people at the party saw it too. Appellant contends this remark is hearsay and constitutes reversible error.

Hearsay is defined as a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. §90.801(c) Fla.Stat. (1987); Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). Appellant argues that these other people must have communicated the fact that they saw the guns also, and therefore this statement is hearsay. The state suggests that presumption is not necessarily true. Brown could have observed other people watching appellant, who was provocatively dressed. Brown may have observed the other people also noticing the long barreled gun under Gunsby's clothing. The statement by Brown could have been something that she personally observed and so it was not hearsay.

Even if the objection was improperly overruled, no reversible error is presented. The error, if any, did not

injuriously affect the defendant's substantial rights. §924.33 Fla.Stat. (1987). There is no real issue that appellant possessed a gun on the night of the murder. Two eyewitnesses placed the weapon in his hands during the crime. Moreover, other witnesses testified that appellant possessed a gun an hour after the murder at his apartment complex. When improperly admitted evidence is cumulative to other, properly admitted evidence, no reversible error is committed. See, LeCroy v. State, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1988). Given the other evidence of premeditation, any error is harmless at best. Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988); Roman v. State, 475 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 1985).

POINT FOUR

APPELLANT WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO CHALLENGE THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON APPEAL BY FAILING TO OBJECT BELOW.

Appellant contends reversible error was committed when the jury was instructed on first degree felony murder when he was charged only with premeditated murder. (R 711) The verdict stated that the jury found the defendant "guilty of murder in the first degree as charged in the indictment." (R 857)

This issue is not preserved for appellate review because at no time did counsel object to the instruction: not during the charge conference (R 479), not as the instruction was given to the jury (R 521), and not after the jury retired to deliberate. (R 533). In fact, defense counsel affirmatively approved of the instructions as given. (R 479) Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d) states:

No party may assign as error grounds of appeal the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects, and the grounds of his objection.

This procedural rule provides an adequate ground to reject the claim as procedurally barred. See, Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 97 S.Ct. 2497, 53 L.Ed.2d 514 (1977); Harris v. Reed, ______ U.S. _____, 109 S.Ct. 1038 (1989). This court has consistently applied this procedural bar in past capital cases.

(A)pellant's counsel did not object to the instruction as given, and, because no objection was made in accordance with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d), we find that appellant waived his right to challenge the instruction on appeal. Harris v. State, 438 So.2d 787, 795 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied 466 U.S. 963 (1984).

See, also, Foster v. State, 436 So.2d 56 (Fla.), cert. denied 464 U.S. 1052 (1983); Walton v. State, 14 F.L.W. 325 (Fla. June 29, 1989). The state respectfully requests a plain statement by this court that this claim has been defaulted by failure to object. Harris v. Reed, supra.

The need for contemporaneous objection is underscored by the fact that here, any error could have been cured by an instruction to the jury to disregard the felony murder instruction. See, Johnson v. State, 252 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1971); Moten v. State, 391 So.2d 716 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

The state contends this issue should be resolved solely upon the procedural grounds advanced above. However, in the interest of completeness, appellee argues that even if this court reaches the merits of this issue, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See, Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981); Adams v. State, 449 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1984). He contends reversible error occurred because it is impossible to determine whether he was convicted of a crime and not charged. Appellant concedes that the evidence of premeditation is so great that heightened premeditation necessary to establish the aggravating

The state suggests that Gunsby could have been prosecuted under the theory of first degree murder with the underlying felony being burglary. He entered or remained in a structure with the unlawful intent to murder Tony Awadallah. See Turner v. State, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1987).

cold, calculated and premeditated was factor of (However, he argues that factor should not have been found for There was substantial evidence of premeditation other reasons.) to support the verdict of quilty as charged. State v. Wilson, 276 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1973). Incited by Anderson's injury, Gunsby announced to party goers that he was tired of perceived abuse of the black community and intended to correct the problem. He went home, changed into combat clothes, returned to the party and made more statements. Then he went to the store, and, in front of two eyewitnesses who positively identified him, murdered Hisham Awadallah. This ample evidence of premeditation insures that the jury was not misled and supports the verdict of guilty as charged.

POINT FIVE

A DEFENSE WITNESS WAS PROPERLY IMPEACHED BY A SPECIFIC ACT OF MISCONDUCT BY GUNSBY. EVEN IF PRESERVED AND IF THE TESTIMONY WAS IMPROPER, ANY ERROR IS HARMLESS.

During the penalty phase, the defense presented testimony from Gunsby's aunt, Johnnie Mae Gunsby. (R 650-651) She related appellant's family history and childhood. (R 651-656) She testified that Gunsby chased away crack cocaine users in their apartment complex. (R 657) Next she related stories of how he always helped other people. (R 658) On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked her if Gunsby had "problems with the law" during his upbringing. (R 661) She agreed there had been problems but could not recall details. (R 661) Then the prosecutor asked if Gunsby had a habit of carrying guns. An objection was posed that this question called for speculation. (R 662) This objection was overruled, and is the only objection in the record. prosecutor next asked if she remembered an incident when Gunsby carried two quns while working in the yard. (R 662-663) witness recalled and related the incident. On appeal, Gunsby claims this testimony was improper Williams 3 rule evidence.

There was no objection to this testimony on this ground which precludes appellate review. Harmon v. State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985). In order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must have been the specific contention asserted below. Steinhorst v.

Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959); §90.404 Fla. Stat. (1987).

State. 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). There was no request for a curative instruction or motion for mistrial. See, Buenoano v. State, 527 So.2d 194, 198 (Fla. 1988); Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1982). This claim was not preserved for review.

Even if preserved, no error is presented. The testimony was not similar fact evidence, but rather, proper impeachment of a defense character witness by a specific act of misconduct by the defendant. §90.405(2) Fla. Stat. (1987) There was a good faith basis for the question, as evidenced by the witness affirmation of the event. Cf. Rhodes v. State, 14 F.L.W. 343 (Fla. July 6, 1989). The question was proper impeachment. See, Smith v. State, 515 So.2d 182, 185 (Fla. 1987).

Assuming further that the testimony was similar fact evidence, considering the relaxed evidentiary standards in the penalty phase, the testimony was admissible. It was relevant to demonstrate lack of mistake, common scheme and general pattern of criminality. §90.404 Fla. Stat. (1987)

Any error is harmless at best, even if the testimony was improperly admitted despite lack of objection. Similar fact evidence errors are subject to harmless error analysis. Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987). The state suggests that any error was harmless because of the insignificant nature of the collateral evidence, because it did not tend to negate evidence offered in mitigation and because it was cumulative to properly admitted evidence.

The jury learned that at the time this murder was committed, Gunsby had been sentenced to eighteen months'

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